2010

# Utah v. Michelle Ann Cox : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

This is an appeal from a conviction of Forgery, a third degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-6-501 (2008), and Theft by Deception, a Class A misdemeanor, in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-6-405 (2008), in the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable Judge Robert Faust presiding. Jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78A-4-103(2)(e) (Supp. 2010). The judgment is attached hereto as "Addendum A."

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES, STANDARDS OF REVIEW, PRESERVATION**

Issue I: Whether the burden of proof was shifted to the defendant in violation of her constitutional Due Process rights when the jury was instructed that the defendant was required to present evidence that she had an honest belief that she was lawfully entitled to cash the check and receive the proceeds therefrom.

Standard of Review: “Determining the propriety of the instructions submitted to the jury presents a question of law, which we review for correctness.” State v. Reyes, 2004 UT App. 8, ¶15, 84 P.3d 841 (citation omitted).

Preservation: This issue was not preserved. This Court will review unpreserved claims for plain error, see, State v. Patrick, 2009 UT App 226, ¶12, 217 P.3d 1150, for ineffective assistance of counsel, see, e.g., State v. Nelson-Waggoner, 2004 UT 29, ¶30, 94 P.3d 186, and to avoid manifest injustice. See, State v. Turner, 736 P.2d 1043 (Utah App. 1987) (citing Utah R. Crim. Pro. 19(c)).

Issue II: Did the trial court err by failing to sentence Appellant on Count II of the Information pursuant to the reduced penalty in effect at the time of her sentencing but, instead, sentenced Appellant to the greater penalty which was in effect for this crime at the time the Information was filed?

Standard of Review: This issue presents a question of law which is reviewed for correctness. State v. Patience, 944 P.2d 381 (Utah App. 1997).

Preservation: This issue was not raised in the district court. However, this Court will review unpreserved claims for plain error, see, State v. Patrick, 2009 UT App 226, ¶12, 217 P.3d 1150, for ineffective assistance of counsel, see, e.g., State v. Nelson-Waggoner, 2004 UT 29, ¶30, 94 P.3d 186. Additionally, this Court can review this illegal sentence under Rule 22(e) of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure. State v. Brooks, 908 P.2d 856, 859-60 (Utah 1995).



## **RULES, STATUTES, AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS**

The text of following relevant provisions is set forth in full at Addendum B:

United States Constitution, Amend. XIV; Utah Constitutions, Art. I, Sec. 7; Utah Code Ann. §76-6-401(2008); Utah Code Ann. §76-6-402 (2008); Utah Code Ann. §76-6-405 (2008); Utah Code Ann. §76-6-412 (2008); Utah Code Ann. §76-6-412 (Supp. 2010); Utah Code Ann. §76-6-501 (2008).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On February 12, 2010, the State of Utah filed an Information against Michelle Cox (hereinafter “Cox”) which included one count of Forgery, in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-6-501 (2008) and one count of Theft by Deception, in violation of Utah Code Ann §76-6-405 (2008). R. 1-2. On March 30, 2010, a preliminary hearing was held and the magistrate bound Cox over for trial on all charges. R. 151.

A trial was held in this matter on August 3-4, 2010. R. 152, 156. At the conclusion of the trial, the jury returned verdicts of guilty on both counts. R. 156:377. On November 8, 2010, Cox was sentenced to a term of 0-5 years in prison on count I of the Information, and a term of 365 days in jail on count II of the Information. R. 107-08. These terms were suspended, and Cox was ordered to serve 30 days jail as a condition of probation. R. 107-08.

Cox filed a notice of appeal on November 16, 2010. R. 124-25. Therefore, this appeal is timely. See, Utah R. App. Pro. 4(a) (2010).

### STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

On September 10, 2009, a vehicle belonging to Kathy Aller (hereinafter "Aller") was broken into while it was parked in a parking lot. R. 152:139. Items were taken from the car including checks from Aller's checking account. R. 152:140. Aller had not given anyone permission to take any of her property out of the car. R. 152:140.

The checking account in question was a joint account, shared by Aller and her father, Don Butler (hereinafter "Butler"). R. 152:141. Aller had not met Cox prior to the trial, nor had Aller authorized Cox or anyone else other than Butler to write checks on or withdraw funds from her account. R. 152:140. Butler also testified that he had not authorized anyone else to write checks or make charges on their account. R. 152:171. He also was not acquainted with Cox and had "[n]ever seen her before." R. 152:171.

Aller reported the vehicle burglary to the police. R. 152:144-45. The next day, September 11, 2009, Aller also reported to her credit union that the checks had been taken. R. 152:144, 147. Aller filled out a fraud report with the credit union, which was signed by both her and Butler. R. 152:149.

On September 11, 2009, an individual presented a check on Aller's account at a Mountain America Credit Union branch in Salt Lake County. R. 152:160-62. The check was written out to "Michelle Cox" as the payee, in the amount of \$360. R. 152:189-90. The back of the check was endorsed with the name of "Michelle Cox." R. 152:188. The check was cashed, and the person presenting the check received \$360 in proceeds from the check. R. 152:164. Aller testified that she had not signed the check, nor had she authorized anyone else to sign the check. R. 152:145-47, 152.

When contacted by police, Cox confirmed that she had cashed the check in question. R. 156:249. Cox also testified at trial that she cashed the check in question. R. 156:295. Although the evidence relating to how Cox came to possess the check is somewhat conflicting, Cox maintained that she did not know the check was stolen when she cashed it. R. 156:295.

Salt Lake City Police Detective Brenden Kirkwood (hereinafter "Kirkwood") interviewed Cox as part of his investigation relating to the stolen check. R. 156:249. Kirkwood testified that Cox initially claimed to have received the check as payment for services she had provided as a manicurist. R. 156:250. Kirkwood testified that he was not able to confirm this information with the salon where Cox was employed. R. 156:251.

Kirkwood testified that when he informed Cox that he was not able to confirm Cox's claim with her supervisor, Cox stated that the services had not been provided at the salon. R. 156:251. Kirkwood testified that Cox stated that the services had been provided at her house, for a group of 12 people, and that she had been paid by a friend, Katarina Dominguez (hereinafter "Dominguez"). R. 156:251-52.

Kirkwood testified that Cox initially claimed that Dominguez had told her that she had received the check in exchange for purchasing gas for an unknown female at a gas station. R. 156:253. Kirkwood further testified that Cox later claimed that Dominguez had told her that the check belonged to Dominguez' mother, and offered to give Cox a portion of the proceeds from the check if she would cash it for her. R. 156:254. Kirkwood testified that Cox stated that she had filled out the amount and wrote her name on the "pay to the order of" line. R. 156:255. Kirkwood testified that Cox believed that Dominguez had signed the check. R. 156:256-57.



Cox testified at trial. While Cox admitted to receiving the check from Dominguez and cashing the check, her testimony differed from the testimony given by Kirkwood in a number of respects.

Cox testified at trial that she had received the check from Dominguez, and that Dominguez told her the check belonged to her mother. R. 156:301-02. Cox testified that Dominguez told her that her mother had not had time to cash the check, and that Dominguez was not able to cash the check due to problems with her own account. R. 156:301.

Cox testified that when Ms. Dominguez gave her the check, Dominguez showed her an ID which she claimed was her mother's ID. R. 156:302. Cox acknowledged that the name on the check did not match Dominguez' last name, but pointed out that Dominguez had been married and had taken her husband's last name. R. 156:315.

When Cox received the check, the numeric amount was filled in for \$360, and it had been signed and dated. R. 156:301-02. However, the written amount and the payee line were blank. R. 156:301.

Dominguez drove Cox to the nearest Mountain America branch to cash the check. R. 156:303-04. On the way to the credit union, Dominguez asked Cox to fill in her name on the "pay to the order of" line and to fill in the written amount. R. 156:305. Ms. Cox complied with that request. R. 156:305.

Upon arriving at the credit union, Dominguez parked the car and Cox went inside to cash the check. R. 156:304. At the teller station, Cox endorsed the back of the check and provided identification. R. 156:305-06.

After cashing the check, Cox returned to Dominguez' car and gave all the cash to Dominguez. R. 156:306. Dominguez thanked Cox and gave her \$60 back. R. 156:306.



## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

ISSUE I: The charges of forgery and theft by deception both arose from allegations that Cox had cashed a forged check at a credit union, and received proceeds from the check totaling \$360. As a necessary element of the charge of theft by deception, the State was required to prove that Cox used deception in order to obtain or exercise control over the property of another. As a necessary element of the charge of forgery, the State was required to prove that Cox acted with a purpose to defraud or knowledge that she was facilitating a fraud.

In order to cash the check, Cox made representations, explicit or implied, that she was lawfully authorized to cash the check and receive the proceeds therefrom. The fraud element of forgery and the deception element of theft by deception both require proof that Cox did not honestly believe the representations she made when cashing the forged check. However, the jury was instructed that Cox was required to present evidence that she had an honest belief that her representations were true or that she had an honest claim of right to the property she obtained. This instruction unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof to the defendant to disprove required elements of the charged offenses.

Constitutional due process protections clearly establish that the State must bear the burden of proving each element of a charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Case law also clearly establishes that a jury instruction that shifts the burden of proof to the defendant to disprove an element of the offense violates the defendant's due process rights under the United States and Utah constitutions. This error can therefore be

reviewed by this Court under a plain error analysis or under an ineffective assistance of counsel analysis because defense counsel failed to object to the State's jury instruction.

ISSUE II: The trial judge imposed a sentence on Count II of the Information which was greater than that allowed by law. The jury convicted Cox of Theft by Deception, for unlawfully obtaining \$360 from a credit union by cashing a forged check. At the time of the offense, theft by deception of property valued at \$360 constituted a class A misdemeanor. But at the time of Cox's sentencing, the legislature had amended the law to make theft by deception a class B misdemeanor if the value of the property taken was less than \$500.

Pursuant to long-established case law, Cox was entitled to the benefit of the lower penalty in effect at the time of her sentencing. The imposition of an incorrect sentence was plain error since it was obvious under the existing law and statutes. The incorrect sentence also prejudiced Cox as it imposed a greater penalty than that allowed by the legislature.

Long-standing Utah case law clearly establishes that when the legislature amends a criminal statute to lower the level of the offense, a defendant is entitled to be sentenced at the lower level in effect at the time of sentencing. This illegal sentence can therefore be reviewed by this Court on appeal under a plain error analysis, under Rule 22(e) of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, or under an ineffective assistance of counsel analysis because her attorney failed to argue that the amended law required sentencing as a class B misdemeanor.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE JURY INSTRUCTION REQUIRING THE DEFENDANT TO PRESENT EVIDENCE THAT SHE HAD AN HONEST BELIEF THAT THE CHECK WAS LEGITIMATE UNCONSTITUTIONALLY SHIFTED THE BURDEN OF PROOF TO THE DEFENDANT.**

Cox was charged in an Information filed on February 12, 2010 with the crimes of Forgery in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-6-501 (2008) and Theft by Deception in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-6-405 (2008). R. 1-2. At trial a trial held on August 3-4, 2010, the jury found Cox guilty of said offense. R. 152; 156:377.

Both of these charges contain elements that, in the context of the present case, required the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Cox had used false or misleading information or misrepresentations for the purpose of cashing a check and obtaining the proceeds therefrom. See, Utah Code Ann. §76-6-501; Utah Code Ann. §76-6-405. Jury Instruction 33 unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof from the State, and instead required Cox to present evidence that she had an honest belief that she was legally entitled to cash that check.

#### **A. THE STATE BEARS THE BURDEN OF PROVING EACH AND EVERY ELEMENT OF A CRIMINAL OFFENSE; REQUIRING THE DEFENDANT TO DISPROVE AN ELEMENT OF THE OFFENSE VIOLATES BOTH FEDERAL AND STATE CONSTITUTIONAL DUE PROCESS PROTECTIONS.**

There are few if any principles as fundamental to the American system of criminal justice and the constitutional requirements of Due Process as those of the presumption of innocence and the requirement that the prosecution must bear the burden of proving each element of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt. See, In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S.Ct.

1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 268 (1970); State v. Walton, 646 P.2d 689 (Utah 1982). The United States Supreme Court has referred to the presumption of innocence as “that bedrock ‘axiomatic and elementary’ principle whose ‘enforcement lies at the foundation of the administration of our criminal law.’” Winship, 397 U.S. at 363 (quoting Coffin v. United States, 156 U.S. 432 (1895)).

The presumption of innocence is given “concrete substance” by the requirement that each element of a criminal offense be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Winship, 397 U.S. at 363. “It is elementary that in criminal cases the State has the burden of proving every essential element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.” State v. Hendricks, 258 P.2d 452, 453 (Utah 1953).

A defendant’s Due Process rights under both the United States and Utah constitutions are violated if the burden of disproving an essential element of a crime is shifted to the defendant. State v. Tebbs, 786 P.2d 775, 777-78 (Utah App. 1980) (citing In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 1073, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970); State v. Starks, 627 P.2d 88, 92 (Utah 1981); State v. Sorenson, 758 P.2d 466, 468-69 (Utah Ct.App. 1988)). “[T]he prosecution must prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt; the defendant need not prove innocence.” State v. Kihlstrom, 1999 UT App 289, ¶10 n.5, 988 P.2d 949.

(1) Requiring the defendant to present evidence of an honest belief or honest claim of right is equivalent to requiring the defendant to disprove the element of deception in a charge of theft by deception.

In the present case, Jury Instruction No. 33 instructed the jury that the Cox was required to present evidence that she “(a) acted under an honest claim of right to the property or service



involved; or (b) acted in the honest belief that she had the right to obtain or exercise control over the property or service involved; or (c) obtained or exercised control over the property or service honestly believing that the owner, if present, would have consented.” R. 94. Although apparently based on Utah Code Ann. §76-6-402(3) (2008), this instruction unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof to the defendant.

The Court of Appeals has previously enumerated “three separate components” of the deception element in a charge of theft by deception: “(1) that defendant’s act satisfied the statutory definition of deception, (2) that the deception occurred contemporaneously with the transaction in question, and (3) that the victim relied upon the deception, at least to some degree, in parting with the property.” State v. LeFevre, 825 P.2d 681, 685 (Utah App. 1992), cert. denied, 843 P.2d 1042 (Utah 1992). It is this first component of deception, an act that “satisfied the statutory definition of deception,” that is the subject of incorrect and confusing jury instructions which had the effect of shifting the burden of proof to the defendant in the present case.

The jury was instructed, in conformity with Utah Code Ann. §76-6-401(5) (2008), as follows:

“Deception” occurs when a person intentionally: (a) Creates or confirms by words or conduct an impression of law or fact that is false and *that the actor does not believe to be true . . .*; or (b) Fails to correct a false impression of law or fact that the actor previously created or confirmed by words or conduct . . . and *that the actor does not now believe to be true.*

R. 92 (emphasis added). This instruction further stated that an act of deception is a necessary element of the crime of theft by deception, and that the jury must be convinced beyond a

reasonable doubt of each element of the crime before they could reach a verdict of guilty. R. 92.

The jury was also instructed generally that the “prosecution has the burden of proof.” R. 81.

However, the jury was also instructed as follows:

[I]t is a defense to the charge of theft by deception that the Defendant:

(a) acted under an honest claim of right to the property or service involved; or

(b) acted in the honest belief that she had the right to obtain or exercise control over the property or service involved; or

(c) obtained or exercised control over the property or service honestly believing that the owner, if present, would have consented.”

R. 94. This instruction further stated that evidence of this kind of honest belief “must be presented by the defendant.” R. 94. This instruction unconstitutionally shifted the burden to the defendant to disprove an element of the offense of theft by deception.

A reasonably diligent search of Utah case law reveals two opinions that touch on the “honest belief” or “honest claim of right” defense in the context of a charge of theft by deception: State v. Vigil, 922 P.2d 15 (Utah App. 1996) and State v. Noren, 704 P.2d 568 (Utah 1985). Neither of these cases supports the position that the honest claim of right defense instruction was properly given in the present case.

In Vigil, the defendant argued on appeal that it was ineffective assistance for counsel to fail to request and plain error for the trial judge to fail to include an honest belief jury instruction in a charge of theft by deception. Vigil, 922 P.2d at 28. The Court of Appeals disagreed, holding that since the defense case was not based on an honest

belief defense, it was not error to fail to request or include an honest belief instruction.

Id. at 29.

The defendant in Vigil, along with his wife, had communicated with three separate attorneys in regard to the possibility of placing their expected child up for adoption by three separate prospective adoptive couples. Vigil, 922 P.2d at 18-22. Payments to the Vigils had been made by each of the prospective adoptive couples, to cover living expenses and other costs associated with the pregnancy. Id. The Vigils ultimately did not give the child up for adoption after it was born, and did not return any of the money they had received. Id.

Defense counsel at trial had asserted that any “misunderstandings occurred as a result of conduct of the attorneys” and that the defendant did not personally “obtain or exercise control over the money.” Id. at 29. Thus, the Court of Appeals stated that “because defendant’s defense at trial was not based on the [honest belief] defense, we conclude no error existed which could have been plain to the trial court.” Id. (citing State v. Bishop, 753 P.2d 439, 489 (Utah 1988) (“where instruction was inconsistent with defendant’s theory of the case, no error in refusing instruction”).

In Noren, the defendant argued on appeal that the trial judge committed error by refusing to include a requested jury instruction on the defense of an honest claim of right to a charge of theft by deception. Noren, 704 P.2d at 571. The Supreme Court affirmed the lower court, holding that the requested instruction had not been supported by the evidence. Id. at 571.

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