2010

Utah v. Michelle Ann Cox : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Jury Instruction No. 33 stated that it was a defense to theft by deception that Defendant acted in the "honest belief" that she had a right to obtain the property she took. The last sentence of the instruction stated that evidence of this defense must be presented by the defense, and that if presented, the State retained its burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt all elements of the offense charged. Defendant claims for the first time on appeal that this sentence improperly shifted the burden of disproving both theft by deception and forgery to her. She also claims that she was entitled to be sentenced to a reduced punishment for her theft-by-deception conviction under an amended statute that became effective after her conviction but before sentencing.

1a. Defendant is not entitled to review of her jury instruction claim for plain error or manifest injustice. Defendant invited any error when trial counsel affirmatively represented to the court that the instruction was correct or, at the very least, failed to object to the instruction when the trial court specifically asked about it. Thus, she can succeed on this claim only if she proves ineffective assistance of counsel for not objecting to the instruction.

1b. Defendant has not proven that trial counsel performed deficiently for not objecting to the instruction, because it was a correct statement of the law. First, by

its express terms, the instruction did not shift the burden of proving deception; rather, it made clear that the burden of proof always remained on the State. Second, the instruction could not have shifted the burden of proof as to the forgery count, because, by its express terms, the instruction applied only to the theft-by-deception count. Defendant has not proven prejudice for essentially the same reasons.

2. The State concedes that counsel should have alerted the trial court that after Defendant's conviction but before sentencing, an amended statute took effect that reduced the penalty for her theft-by-deception offense from a class A misdemeanor to a class B misdemeanor. Defendant was entitled to be sentenced to the lesser penalty. This Court should therefore remand for entry of the theft-by-deception conviction and sentence as that of a class B misdemeanor.

ARGUMENT

I.

DEFENDANT CANNOT PREVAIL ON HER UNPRESERVED CLAIM THAT THE "HONEST BELIEF" JURY INSTRUCTION SHIFTED THE BURDEN OF PROOF TO HER

The trial court instructed the jury that it was a defense to theft by deception if the defendant "acted in the honest belief that she had the right to obtain . . . the property." R94. The instruction concluded with this sentence: "Evidence of this defense must be presented by the defense, and if presented[,] the State retains its burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt on all elements of the offense charged." *Id.* Defendant claims for the first time on appeal that the last sentence of the instruction improperly shifted to her the burden of proving not only theft by deception, but also the forgery. *See* Br. Appellant at 23-24. Because she did not preserve this claim below, she argues that the trial court plainly erred in giving the instruction as written or, alternatively that her counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the instruction. Br. Appellant at 23-26.

Because Defendant invited any error, she is not entitled to plain error review. And while she is entitled to review of her ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim, she has not met the heavy burden of proving both that counsel performed deficiently and that counsel's failure to object prejudiced her.

A. Because defendant approved the jury instructions below, the invited error doctrine precludes plain error review.

Defendant first claims that it was “plain error to instruct the jury that the defendant had the burden of presenting evidence that she had an honest belief that she was authorized to cash the check.” Br. Appellant at 23 (*italics and underlining omitted*). Defendant correctly notes that the “plain error standard of review is also intended to avoid manifest injustice” and that the terms “plain error” and “manifest injustice” have been described as being essentially synonymous. *Id.* (citing *State v. Alinas*, 2007 UT 83, ¶ 10, 171 P.3d 1046) (*internal quotation marks omitted*). But Defendant is not entitled to plain error or manifest injustice review because she affirmatively approved the jury instructions below.

Proceedings below. Before taking evidence on the second and last day of trial, the trial court discussed the jury instructions with the parties. Defense counsel objected to one instruction—unrelated to the issue here—and the prosecutor withdrew it. R156:221-23. The court then asked defense counsel, “Okay, so then for the record, to make it absolutely clear, neither the State nor the defense has any jury instructions objections in this case; correct, [counsel]?” R156:223. Defense counsel apparently responded affirmatively and non-verbally, because the transcript does not indicate any response from her. *See id.* When the court then asked about the parties’ preferences concerning the order of the instructions, both parties agreed to have the court determine the order of the instructions. *See* R156:223-24. The court

also asked the parties if they would like an instruction about Defendant's right to testify or not testify. R156:224. The prosecutor said that he did, and defense counsel questioned Defendant on the record to show that Defendant knew that she did not have to testify, but that she wanted to take the stand. R156:224-25.

Minutes later, the prosecutor asked that all objections to questions and testimony be discussed outside the jury's presence. R156:234. The prosecutor then stated, "[O]ther than that, I have no objections to the instructions the Court is intending to give and no objections to the Court's not giving mine." R156:235. Before bringing in the jury, the court asked defense counsel, "[D]id you have anything else you wanted to add?" *Id.* The record indicates that defense counsel gave "[n]o verbal response." *Id.*

Relevant law. Under the invited error doctrine, "a party on appeal cannot take advantage of an error committed at trial when that party led the trial court into committing the error." *State v. Alfatlawi*, 2006 UT App 511, ¶ 26, 153 P.3d 804 (quotations and citation omitted). A party invites error when she makes "[a]ffirmative representations that [she] has no objection to the proceedings . . . because such representations reassure the trial court and encourage it to proceed without further consideration of the issues." *State v. Winfield*, 2006 UT 4, ¶ 16, 128 P.3d 1171. In the context of jury instructions, a defendant invites error when she "affirmatively approve[s] of the jury instructions at trial." *Alfatlawi*, 2006 UT App

511, ¶ 26 (alteration in original). Thus, where counsel “confirm[s] on the record that the defense had no objection to the instructions given by the trial court,” or even “fail[s] to object to an instruction when specifically queried by the court,” the invited error doctrine applies. *Geukgeuzian*, 2004 UT 16, ¶ 10. A party who invites error is precluded from subsequently obtaining appellate review for plain error or manifest injustice. *Geukgeuzian*, 2004 UT 16, ¶ 9; *Alfatlawi*, 2006 UT App 511, ¶ 26.

Defendant invited any error in the instructions here. As explained, when asked, counsel effectively confirmed on the record that she had no objections to the jury instructions. *See* R156:223. At the very least, she failed to object to the instructions when specifically queried by the court. *See id.* In so doing, Defendant invited any error, and she is not entitled to review of her claim for plain error or manifest injustice. *See State v. Anderson*, 929 P.2d 1107, 1108-09 (Utah 1996); *State v. Dunn*, 850 P.2d 1201, 1220 (Utah 1993); *State v. Medina*, 738 P.2d 1021, 1023 (Utah 1987).

B. Because the “honest belief” jury instruction did not shift the burden of proof to Defendant, Defendant has not shown that trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to it.

Defendant alternatively claims that “[d]efense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to an instruction which deprived [her] client of a fundamental constitutional protection,” i.e., an instruction that “shift[ed] the burden of proof to the defendant.” Br. Appellant at 24, 26 (italics and underlining omitted).

Defendant claims that the final sentence of this instruction unconstitutionally shifted to her the burden of proving not only the deception element of theft deception, but also the fraud element of forgery. Br. Appellant at 10-26. Defendant asserts that because the last sentence required her “to present evidence that she had an honest belief that her representations were true or that she had an honest claim of right to the property she obtained,” it “unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof to [her] to disprove required elements of the charged offense[s].” *Id.* at 7.¹ Defendant thus argues that her counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the instruction. *Id.* at 24-26. Defendant has not met her heavy burden to show both deficient performance and prejudice.

¹ Defendant claims only that the jury instruction unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof on the deception element of theft by deception and the fraud element of forgery. *See* Br. Appellant at 15-21. She does not claim that the instruction shifted the burden on any other element of either offense. *See id.*

Jury instructions. The jury was repeatedly instructed that the defendant was presumed innocent and the State had the burden to prove all of the elements of each offense beyond a reasonable doubt:

"The defendant is presumed innocent of the charge." (Instruction 5, R77);

"The prosecution has the burden of proof. . . . The defendant is not required to prove innocence—you must start by assuming it. According to our law, the defendant is presumed innocent unless proven guilty beyond a reasonable doubt." (Instruction 15, R81);

"Before you can give up your assumption [that] the defendant is innocent, you must be convinced that the defendant's guilt has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt." (Instruction 16, R81);

"Before you can find the defendant guilty of any charge, there must be enough evidence—direct, circumstantial, or some of both—to convince you of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." (Instruction 29, R87);

"The law requires that the prosecutor prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant acted with a particular mental state." (Instruction 30, R88);

"You cannot convict [Defendant] of [forgery] unless you find beyond a reasonable doubt, based on the evidence each of the following elements [listing elements of forgery]. . . . [I]f you are not convinced that one or more of these elements has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt then you must find the defendant NOT GUILTY." (Instruction 31, R89-90).

"You cannot convict [Defendant] of [theft by deception] unless you find beyond a reasonable doubt, based on the evidence each of the following elements [listing elements of theft by deception]. . . . [I]f you are not convinced that one or more of these elements has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt then you must find the defendant NOT GUILTY." (Instruction 32, R92-93).

Jury Instruction No. 31 set forth the elements of forgery. It instructed that the jurors could not convict Defendant of forgery unless they found beyond a

reasonable doubt that Defendant, “acting with a purpose to defraud anyone, or with knowledge that she was facilitating a fraud to be perpetuated by anyone,” “altered any writing of another without his authority or uttered the altered writing” or “made, completed, . . . or uttered any writing” so that it “purported to be the act of another” or “to be an act on behalf of another party with the authority of that party.” R89-91 (instruction set forth in its entirety in *Addendum B*).

Jury Instruction No. 32 set forth the elements of theft by deception. It instructed the jurors that they could not convict Defendant of theft by deception unless they found beyond a reasonable doubt that Defendant had obtained or exercised control over the property of another by deception and with a purpose to deprive. R92-93. This instruction explained that “deception” occurs when a person intentionally “[c]reates or confirms by words or conduct an impression of law or fact that is false and that the actor does not believe to be true and that is likely to affect . . . the judgment of another in the transaction.” *Id.* (instruction set forth in its entirety in *Addendum B*).

Jury Instruction No. 33, the challenged instruction, set forth the “honest belief” defense to theft by deception. It explained that Defendant had a defense to theft by deception if she acted “under an honest claim of right to the property,” “in the honest belief that she had the right to obtain the property,” or “honestly believing that the owner, if present, would have consented” to her obtaining the

property. R94. The instruction concluded with this sentence: “Evidence of this defense must be presented by the defense, and if presented the State retains its burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt on all elements of the offense charged.” *Id.* (emphasis added).

Relevant law – burden of proof and jury instructions. The State bears the burden to “prove beyond a reasonable doubt every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which [a defendant] is charged.” *Patterson v. New York*, 432 U.S. 197, 206 (1977), quoting *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358 (1970) (internal quotation marks omitted); see also *State v. Poole*, 2010 UT 25, ¶ 22, 232 P.3d 519.

An appellate court reviews “a challenged jury instruction in context with all other jury instructions provided to the jury.” *State v. Marchet*, 2009 UT App 262, ¶ 23, 219 P.3d 75 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). Where “the jury instructions as a whole fairly instruct the jury on the applicable law, reversible error does not arise merely because one jury instruction, standing alone, is not as accurate as it might have been.” *Id.* (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

Relevant law – ineffective assistance. A defendant “raising an ineffective assistance of counsel claim carries a ‘heavy burden.’” *Bullock v. Carver*, 297 F.3d 1036, 1046 (10th Cir. 2002). To prevail on an ineffective assistance claim, the burden is on Defendant to show: “(1) that counsel’s performance was objectively deficient, and (2) a reasonable probability exists that but for the deficient conduct defendant

would have obtained a more favorable outcome at trial.” *State v. Clark*, 2004 UT 25, ¶6, 89 P.3d 162 (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984)). “Failure to satisfy either prong will result in our concluding that counsel’s behavior was not ineffective.” *State v. Diaz*, 2002 UT App 288, ¶ 38, 55 P.3d 1131.

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, Defendant must first show that trial counsel’s performance was deficient—that is, that counsel’s performance did not meet an objective standard of reasonableness—by identifying specific acts or omissions she alleges did not result from reasonable professional judgment. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687-88, 690. When reviewing such a claim, courts “must indulge a strong presumption that counsel’s conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance; that is, the defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action ‘might be considered sound trial strategy.’” *Id.* at 689 (citation omitted). This presumption “derives from our common experience that attorneys, as a whole, usually represent their clients in a professional, competent, and reasonable manner.” *Bullock*, 297 F.3d at 1046. The standard is appropriately deferential, recognizing the “variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel” and “the range of legitimate decisions regarding how to best represent a criminal defendant.” *State v. Tyler*, 850 P.2d 1250, 1254 (Utah 1993). Moreover, “[u]nlike a later reviewing court, the attorney observed the relevant proceedings, knew of materials outside the record, and interacted with

the client, with opposing counsel, and with the judge.” *Harrington v. Richter*, 131 S.Ct. 770, 788 (2011).

Accordingly, “tactical decisions such as ‘what witnesses to call, what objections to make, and, by and large, what defenses to interpose, are generally left to the professional judgment of counsel.’” *Adams v. State*, 2005 UT 62, ¶ 25, 123 P.3d 400 (quoting *State v. Wood*, 648 P.2d 71, 91 (Utah 1982)). *State v. Snyder*, 860 P.2d 351, 354 (Utah App. 1993).

Ultimately, Defendant bears the burden of “show[ing] that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.” *Id.* at 787 (quotations and citation omitted). As part of that burden, the defendant must show that there is no conceivable legitimate tactical basis for trial counsel’s actions. If there is such a basis, counsel has not performed deficiently. See *Clark*, 2004 UT 25, ¶ 7; *State v. Holbert*, 2002 UT App 426, ¶ 58, 61 P.3d 291.

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